IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

WYNONA HARRIS, *Plaintiff and Respondent,*

VS.

CITY OF SANTA MONICA, Defendant and Appellant. MAR 1 6 2010

Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Case No. B199571 Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC 341569

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael Nourmand, Esq. (SBN #198439) KOKOZIAN & NOURMAND LLP 5900 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1730 Los Angeles, California 90036 Telephone: (323) 935-6677

Facsimile: (323) 935-4919

Email: mnourmand@knlawyers.com

David M. deRubertis (SBN #208709) Michael H. Leb (SBN #123042) The deRubertis Law Firm 21800 Oxnard Street, Suite 1180 Woodland Hills, California 91367 Telephone: (818) 227-8605

INTRODUCTION

This *published* Opinion raises issues of fundamental and farreaching importance to virtually every discrimination or retaliation claim
under California's Fair Employment & Housing Act (FEHA). These key
issues include: (1) Whether a "mixed motive" defense exists under the
FEHA?; (2) If so, what factual predicates must be present to support this
defense?; and (3) If proven, what effect does the defense have on the case's
ultimate resolution? Until now, none of these questions have been squarely
addressed in any holding - as opposed to passing dicta references - by any
previous published California FEHA authority.

In this published Opinion, the appellate court created a non-statutory "mixed motive" affirmative defense which finds no support in the text of the FEHA. It also required the trial court to give a "mixed motive" instruction even though the appellate court acknowledged that the parties themselves both argued that the employer did *not* act out of any "mixed motives." Instead, each party maintained that only one motive influenced the termination decision (according to plaintiff: pregnancy animus; according to defendant: performance issues). In creating this defense, the appellate court borrowed from federal Title VII law, which does recognize (now, in the statutory text) this "mixed motive" defense. But, in reasoning

that turns the FEHA's broad remedial purposes literally upside down, the appellate court's Opinion makes this non-statutory FEHA defense a complete liability defense when the same defense under Title VII merely limits remedies.

The very viability of a "mixed motive" defense to FEHA claims is a critically important and unsettled question which only this Court can definitively answer. The FEHA's text contains no such defense, though it does contain other defenses. Similarly, the FEHA's interpretative regulations do not recognize this defense. Instead, the genesis of the "mixed motive" defense is a body of law that has developed under federal anti-discrimination law (Title VII). But there are many reasons why the FEHA should be construed differently than Title VII on this point - something this Court has done in other cases where the text or purposes behind the FEHA and Title VII differed.

Thus, the threshold question this petition presents is whether any form of "mixed motive" defense applies to FEHA claims.

But even if this Court were to conclude that the FEHA does or should contain a "mixed motive" defense, review must still be granted to decide unsettled and important questions regarding *both* the defense's

applicability and its effect - neither of which this published Opinion adequately analyzed.

This case was tried as a straightforward "pretext" type case where the employer's position was that it acted out of *purely legitimate* reasons (performance issues). The employee countered that these supposedly legitimate reasons were a pretext or mask for discriminatory animus. Neither party actually maintained that the employer acted under any combined or "mixed motives." Typically, federal courts that have applied a "mixed motive" analysis, have not done so in every straightforward "pretext" type case. Instead, only when certain factual predicates are met is a "mixed motive" instruction given. Nonetheless, the Opinion does not limit the applicability of the "mixed motive" analysis at all. Instead, it creates a sweeping, omni-present defense that juries must be instructed on any time a court could theorize that the employer harbored a "mixed motive" - even when both parties dispute this very fact.

Thus, review is also necessary to determine whether this limitless application of a "mixed motive" defense is appropriate or, as we submit, any adoption of this defense must carefully consider the *factual predicates* necessary for it so that every case does not automatically morph into a "mixed motive" case.

There is yet another compelling reason to grant review. In engrafting this "mixed motive" defense into the FEHA, the appellate court borrowed federal law to adopt it. But at the same time, it refused to apply any of the limitations to this defense found in federal law. If this published Opinion stands, the "mixed motive" defense under Title VII will merely limit certain remedies, while the analogous defense under the FEHA will provide a *complete liability defense*. Given the FEHA's express legislative purpose of providing broad remedies to prevent and deter violations - and the numerous instances where the FEHA is broader than Title VII - it only makes sense that any FEHA "mixed motive" defense would be narrower on its effect on remedies than the analogous Title VII defense.

Review is desperately needed in this case so that this Court can ultimately determine these fundamental issues of FEHA jurisprudence. If review is not granted at this time, and the Opinion is later determined to inaccurately describe the availability or limits of the "mixed motive" defense, then countless cases will be tried in the meantime with juries instructed on the incorrect principles required by this Opinion. Review now can stop before it starts what otherwise could become a widespread reversal of FEHA verdicts based on improper jury instructions that are now required by the Opinion in all future FEHA discrimination or retaliation trials.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Does the "mixed motive" defense now a statutory defense found within the text of Title VII apply to FEHA claims despite the absence of any text in the California statute authorizing the defense?
- 2. If the "mixed motive" defense does apply to FEHA claims, when does it apply? Is a "mixed motive" instruction warranted in *every*FEHA discrimination or retaliation case, or must certain *factual*predicates be present for example, evidence that the employer actually considered *both* proper *and* improper factors to justify a "mixed motive" instruction?
- 3. If the "mixed motive" defense does apply to FEHA claims, what effect does it have if proven? Is the defense broader under the FEHA than Title VII so that it provides a complete defense to FEHA claims? Or, consistent with the FEHA's broad remedial purpose, does the defense merely limit *some* remedies?

SUMMARY OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. Wynona Harris' employment, pregnancy and termination.¹

Wynona Harris was hired by the City of Santa Monica on an at-will basis as a bus driver trainee. (Opinion, p. 2.) In mid-November 2004,

Harris successfully completed her training program and was promoted to a probationary bus driver. (*Ibid.*) In May of 2005, Harris advised her supervisor George Reynoso that she was pregnant. (*Id.*, p. 4.) Reynoso's response was: "Wow. Well, what are you going to do? How far along are you?" (*Ibid.*) Days later, Harris supplied Reynoso with a doctor's note permitting her to continue to work with limited restrictions. (*Ibid.*) Two days after she submitted her doctor's note, Harris was terminated. (*Ibid.*)

The City justified Harris' termination on grounds that she had gotten into two preventable accidents, suffered two "miss-outs" (absences without one hour's advance notice), and was warned in a review that "further development [was] needed." (*Id.*, pp. 2-4.) At all times, the City denied that Harris' pregnancy played *any role* in its termination decision. (*Id.*, pp. 7-8.)

¹ Many of the underlying case facts are not critical to assessing the legal question of whether review should be granted. Therefore, an abridged version is presented now and, if review is granted, our merits briefing will supply more factual detail.

B. The litigation, the trial, the jury instructions and the jury's verdict.

Harris filed suit against the City alleging that she was terminated based on her pregnancy. (Opinion, pp. 4-5.)

The City's answer did *not* plead a "mixed motive" affirmative defense. (1 AA 22-30.) Likewise, the City's initial proposed jury instructions lacked a "mixed motive" instruction and the City's initial proposed verdict form lacked a "mixed motive" question. (1 AA 67-73; 90-93.)

However, during trial the City did eventually request a "mixed motive" instruction. (Opinion, p. 5.) The trial court denied the requested instruction, reasoning that the case had really been framed by the parties as "pretext" case and not a "mixed motive" case. (6 RT 2758-2759 ["[A]II those allegations are circumstantial evidence that she was fired for discriminatory reasons, and all this is pretext; correct? Isn't that what you're saying."].)

The jury returned a verdict in Harris' favor, finding that her pregnancy did motivate her termination and awarding \$177,905 in damages. (Opinion, pp. 5-6.) After the trial court denied the City's new trial and JNOV motions, the City appealed. (*Id.*, p. 6.)

C. The Appellate Court's Opinion, grant of re-hearing and re-issuance of its published Opinion.

After full briefing and oral argument, Division Eight of the Second District Court of Appeal vacated submission of the case and asked for further briefing regarding the applicability of the "mixed motive" defense to FEHA claims. Thereafter, the appellate court issued an opinion on October 29, 2009. Harris sought rehearing, which the appellate court granted. Then, on February 4, 2010, the appellate court issued its *published* opinion, holding that the trial court erred by failing to instruct the jury on the "mixed motive" defense, requiring a new trial.

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

- I. REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED TO DECIDE WHETHER THE "MIXED MOTIVE" DEFENSE APPLIES TO FEHA DISCRIMINATION AND RETALIATION CLAIMS.
 - A. The unsettled question of whether the "mixed motive" defense applies to claims under California's FEHA.

The "mixed motive" defense is a creature of federal law under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. Its genesis was the United States Supreme Court's highly fractured opinion in *Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins*

(1989) 490 U.S. 282.² There, the employer denied a female employee partnership based on seemingly legitimate considerations (lack of interpersonal skills) but these same considerations reflected the employer's consideration of impermissible factors (sexual stereotypical assumptions about the way a female should act). (*Price Waterhouse*, 490 U.S. at 234-237.) In this "mixed motive" context (where *both permissible and impermissible* considerations were at play), the plurality decision held that the plaintiff in a Title VII case bears the burden of proving that the impermissible considerations were a motivating reason for the employer's decision and that, once this is shown, the employer can avoid liability altogether by proving as an affirmative defense that it would have made the same decision even if it had not taken into account the impermissible considerations. (*Id.* at 258.)

The *Price Waterhouse* decision was immediately the subject of much criticism, especially because, by providing a complete defense to liability even where the plaintiff established that the employer's decision-making was infected by discriminatory animus, it "severely undermines protections against intentional discrimination by allowing such discrimination to escape

² Price Waterhouse consisted of a four justice plurality opinion, two individual concurring opinions, and a dissenting opinion signed by three of the justices.

sanction completely under Title VII." (H.R. Rept. 102-40(II) at 18 (1991), reprinted in 1991 U.S.C.C.A.N. 549.) Congress responded by the Civil Rights Act of 1991, which amended Title VII to provide that the "mixed motive" defense merely limited available remedies so that the plaintiff could still obtain declaratory and injunctive relief, attorney's fees and costs.³ (42 U.S.C.§2000e-5(g)(2)(B).)

Without analyzing the specific statutory text, the general statutory scheme or the FEHA's remedial purposes, the Opinion holds that the "mixed motive" defense applies to FEHA claims. Its only apparent support for this far-reaching holding was: (1) the assumption that federal authority should control the FEHA on this point (Opinion, pp. 8-11); (2) the fact that BAJI contained a "mixed motive" jury instruction - though CACI does not and BAJI acknowledges the uncertainty of whether the defense applies to FEHA claims (Opinion, pp. 7-9); and (3) the fact that some California appellate decisions have *assumed* in dicta that the defense would apply to the FEHA. (Opinion, pp. 5 n. 2 & 7). Based on literally nothing more than this, the appellate court did what no previous California appellate authority

³ In the 1991 amendments, Congress adopted the position of the Eighth Circuit in *Bibbs v. Block* (8th Cir. 1985) 778 F.2d 1318 that the "mixed motive" defense did not bar liability, but only limited available remedies.

has done: concluded as a matter of the court's holding (not mere dicta) that the "mixed motive" defense applies to FEHA claims.

The Opinion's assumption that the "mixed motive" defense belongs in FEHA jurisprudence is far from a clear or established proposition. There are many reasons which cast serious doubt on this conclusion.

First, as elaborated on in Section (C)(1) - (3) below, nothing in the FEHA's actual text provides for this defense even though the FEHA does contain many other statutory defenses to discrimination and retaliation claims.

Second, this Court has never endorsed (nor even suggested) that the "mixed motive" defense applies to FEHA claims.

Third, the drafters of California's two sets of standard civil jury instructions have disagreed with each other on whether a "mixed motive" instruction should be contained within the standard instructions. The drafters of the controlling, Judicial Council-approved jury instructions (CACI⁴) chose *not* to include a "mixed motive" affirmative defense instruction to FEHA claims. (Opinion, p. 9 ["CACI's omission of a mixed-motive instruction does not appear inadvertent because CACI's drafters

⁴ As of September 2003, CACI replaced BAJI as California's official jury instructions. (Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 2.1050; *see also* www.courtinfo.ca.gov/jury/civiljuryinstructions.)

knew about decisions applying the principle" yet decided not to provide an instruction for this defense].) Indeed, the Opinion recognizes that CACI's decision not to include a "mixed motive" instruction is "a likely recognition by the drafters of CACI that the law involving the mixed-motive defense *is not stable and clear, but arguably in a state of flux.*" (Opinion, p. 10) (italics added.)

In contrast, the BAJI drafters had included a "mixed motive" instruction. (*B.A.J.I. California Jury Instructions, Civil* (Fall 2009 Edition) [hereafter BAJI], Instr. No. 12.26.) But even then, the BAJI drafters emphasized the *uncertainty* surrounding the defense's applicability to FEHA claims:

No California appellate decision has dealt with these issues. However, since the federal statute and Government Code language in critical areas is similar, the instruction is presented should the trial court deem it appropriate and applicable.⁵ (BAJI, Instr. No. 12.26 "Comment") (italics added.)

The BAJI drafter's statement that "the federal statute and Government Code language in critical areas is similar" is wrong. As explained in Section (C)(1) below, nothing within the FEHA's statutory text provides - expressly or implicitly - for a "mixed motive" defense to FEHA claims. In contrast, Title VII, after the 1991 amendments, *does* now directly provide for this defense. (42 USC §§ 2000e-2(m) & 2000e-(5)(g)(2)(B).)

Fourth, before the Opinion, no published California appellate court had actually held - as opposed to making passing dicta suggestions - that the "mixed motive" defense applies to FEHA claims. (See e.g., Arteaga v. Brinks Incorporated (2008) 163 Cal. App. 4th 327, 357 ["we do not decide" whether a mixed-motive analysis applies under the FEHA or in this case"]; Huffman v. Interstate Brands Companies (2004) 121 Cal. App. 4th 679, 702 [court did not decide whether "mixed motive" applied to FEHA because the "case was pled and tried as a pretext case"]; Reeves v. Safeway Stores, Inc. (2004) 121 Cal. App. 4th 95, 111 n. 11 [noting "mixed motive" in dicta, but not deciding whether it would apply because "Plaintiff has not invoked the competing model of 'mixed motive' analysis"]; Heard v. Lockheed Missiles & Space Co. (1996) 44 Cal. App. 4th 1735, 1748-1752 [distinguishing between "pretext" and "mixed motive" cases, but not analyzing whether the "mixed motive" applied to FEHA].)

⁶ Grant-Burton v. Covenant Care, Inc. (2002) 99 Cal.App.4th 1361, 1379, which is quoted at the beginning of the Opinion's legal discussion did not arise under the FEHA. (Opinion, p. 6.) Grant-Burton was a common law wrongful termination in violation of public policy case not rooted in any FEHA violation. (Grant-Burton, 99 Cal.App.4th at 379.)

⁷ Thus, the Opinion's statement within footnote 2 that "[a]fter *Price Waterhouse*, California courts followed suit by recognizing a mixed-motive defense was available under state employment discrimination statutes" is incorrect. The *Heard* case - which the Opinion relied on for this conclusion - did *not* hold that the "mixed motive" defense was available under the FEHA. *Heard* merely provided a quick history of different types of

Likewise, federal courts within California have consistently observed that no published California appellate authority had - before the Opinion - actually held that the "mixed motive" defense applied to FEHA claims.

(See e.g., Metoyer v. Chassman (9th Cir. 2007) 504 F.3d 919, 955 fn. 25

["no California court has explicitly adopted the mixed-motive defense as a bar to liability under FEHA"]; *Behne v. Microtouch Systems, Inc.* (N.D. Cal. 1999) 58 F.Supp.2d 1096, 1100 ["the California Supreme Court has not yet determined whether to adopt *Price Waterhouse* and establish a similar affirmative defense under state law for a mixed-motive defendant"].)

The Opinion's conclusion that the "mixed motive" defense applies to FEHA discrimination claims does not shine a bright light on these muddied waters. Far from a definitive or comprehensive treatment of this issue, the Opinion offers precious little reasoning or analysis on this critically important question. It merely points to federal law and concludes - without independent analysis - that the defense should apply equally under the FEHA. But, as we show in Section (C) below, this assumption is far from clear. Thus, review by this Court is necessary to both to "settle an

discrimination and summarized methods of proving discrimination. (*Heard*, 44 Cal.App.4th at 1748-1754.)

important question of law" and "secure uniformity of decision." (Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(b)(1).)

B. The issues raised by this petition are of fundamental and widespread importance to FEHA cases, particularly because the Opinion requires a "mixed motive" instruction in virtually every conceivable FEHA discrimination or retaliation case.

The question of whether a "mixed motive" defense should be recognized under the FEHA is not just an "important question of law." (Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(b)(1).) It is a question of such widespread importance to FEHA litigation that its scope and reach cannot be overstated. This is especially true given the sweeping and limitless applicability of the defense as articulated by the Opinion.

As the Opinion itself acknowledges, the City's defense in this case was *not* that it considered both proper and discriminatory considerations, *i.e.*, the City did *not* allege as a factual matter that it actually harbored "mixed motives" in terminating Harris. (Opinion, pp. 7-8.) Nor was this a case, like *Price Waterhouse*, where the employer's statements about its decision-making inherently established the potential that both permissible and impermissible motivations were at play. Rather, the City adamantly "denied Harris's pregnancy played *any role* in the termination decision" and

asserted instead that it terminated Harris based on "deficient performance which, standing alone, lawfully permitted the City to discharge an at-will employee such as Harris." (*Ibid.*) (italics added.) In short, the City disclaimed any "mixed motive": "The City asserts, however, that it had sufficient nondiscriminatory reasons to fire Harris, *and her pregnancy played no part in its decision to terminate her.*" (Opinion, p. 7) (italics added.)

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