IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

WYNONA HARRIS, Plaintiff and Respondent SUPREME COURT FILED

APR - 5 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

٧.

CITY OF SANTA MONICA, Defendant and Appellant. Deputy

Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Case No. B199571 Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC 341569

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARSHA JONES MOUTRIE, City Attorney (SBN 69711) JOSEPH LAWRENCE, Assistant City Attorney (SBN 99039) BARBARA GREENSTEIN, Deputy City Attorney (SBN 90953)

1685 Main Street, Room 310 Santa Monica, California 90401

Telephone: (310) 458-8336 Facsimile: (310) 395-6727

Attorneys for Defendant and Appellant CITY OF SANTA MONICA

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

In contrast to what happened after her pregnancy announcement, for Harris everything she did before her announcement – her bus driving accidents and failures to report to work - lack consequence and become all but meaningless.

Each is mere prologue. They are transgressions, but Harris has excuses for each. Any contrary view is just more evidence of discrimination. For Harris it makes no difference that the City terminated every other at-will and probationary bus driver, male or female, who had the same disciplinary history as she. It makes no difference that she was let go along with other probationary employees. No, for her the City cannot even present evidence of how it treated other pregnant employees. Regardless of her prior work performance history, regardless of her status as an at-will and probationary employee, regardless that she had no

entitlement to continued public employment, she was terminated after she informed her employer that she was pregnant. Therefore, she presumptively suffered pregnancy-based discrimination.

The City did not choose the time for Harris to disclose her pregnancy. But the telling did not rob the City of its ability and responsibility to decide that Harris' multiple bus accidents and failures to report to work made her a chancy candidate for the full responsibilities of a permanent bus driver. No one has a right to public employment - most especially an unpredictable, at-will and probationary mass transit bus driver. At all times the City, as a governmental mass transit operator, owed its customers strict common carrier duties for safety and reliability, qualities Harris lacked, as her performance repeatedly revealed. Her pregnancy does not change any of this.

Once informed of Harris' pregnancy in the midst of conducting her probationary performance review, the City understandably paused and pondered whether her disclosure should change the outcome. It decided it shouldn't and acted accordingly. None of that is the stuff of pregnancy discrimination, particularly where nothing linked Harris' pregnancy to her unreliable job performance.

The Court of Appeal recognized that the trial court erred in not applying established law regarding the City's motivations for terminating Harris. The Court

of Appeal recognized that the inference of pregnancy discrimination based on timing is not the end of the inquiry and that the inference cannot become a presumptive conclusion with no meaningful opportunity for rebuttal. The Court of Appeal recognized that the City had the right to tell the jury, by appropriate instructions, to weigh what the City did, and why: to answer the question of whether, pregnant or not, the City would have made the same decision to terminate Harris' probationary employment. The Court of Appeal decided that existing law allows the City a legitimate and fair defense to Harris' charge of pregnancy discrimination. In doing so the Court of Appeal upheld the obvious - jury instructions must be legally correct and clear. As FEHA requires, the jury must conclude that Harris was fired *because of* her pregnancy.

II. Denying Wrongful Discrimination Does Not Create a Case of Pure "Pretext", and Does Not Deprive an Employer of Available Defenses and Appropriate Jury Instructions.

Before this Court Harris makes a great fuss about pretext in the employment law context, and whether an employer's denial that its adverse employment actions were a pretext for unlawful discrimination prohibits the employer from invoking the balancing test set forth in *Price Waterhouse*. It does not. Like any other defendant in any other dispute, an employer may defend itself against a claim of

pregnancy discrimination through evidence that it did not discriminate on the basis of pregnancy. But if the jury somehow believes it did, presumptively or otherwise, the employer may ask the jury to decide whether the employer would have made the same decision in any event. If the evidence shows that an employer **may** have harbored impermissible motives in reaching an employment decision, but also had legitimate considerations, a mixed-motive jury instruction is appropriate. This is not new law. This is not a jurisprudential revolution. It is simply a restatement of existing law.

This legal principle is in harmony with other areas of the law. For instance, in a negligence context, a defendant may invoke the defense of comparative negligence while denying he or she was negligent at all. *Li v. Yellow Cab* (1975) 13 Cal.3d 804. These rules of pleading and practice are well established, and do not require Supreme Court review of this decision for clarification.

III. The Court Should Deny the Petition for Review Because the Court of Appeal Decision Simply Applied Existing Decisional Law.

In her Petition, Harris takes issue with the jury instruction the Court of Appeal recognized as appropriate here, the so-called "mixed-motive" defense to a claim of pregnancy discrimination. In doing so, Harris takes issue not just with the Court of Appeal but with over two decades of settled law.

In 1989, the U.S. Supreme Court decided *Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins* (1989) 490 U.S. 228 ("*Price Waterhouse*"), which applied the "mixed-motive" defense to claims of Title VII discrimination.¹ "Mixed motives" mean just that: that an employer considered both permissible and impermissible factors in making a decision. If so, the burden of persuasion shifts to the defense to show that it would have made the same decision in the absence of discrimination. 490 U.S. at 249.

In *Price Waterhouse*, Ann Hopkins was refused partnership in her accounting firm. Ms. Hopkins sued Price Waterhouse under 42 U.S.C. section 2000e, which prohibits discrimination on the basis of sex.² The court's plurality found that Title VII prohibits employers from making an employment decision "because of" sex, unless sex is a bona fide occupational qualification (BFOQ). 490 U.S. at 242.

Accordingly, the *Price Waterhouse* plurality reasoned, a decision is made "because of" sex if sex (or pregnancy, as in Harris's case) was a factor in the

¹ See exposition in Note, "Mixed Motives, Title VII, and Removing Sexism from Employment: The Reality and the Rhetoric" 59 Albany Law Review 1 (1995).

² 42 USC 2000e -2 (a)(1) It shall be an unlawful employment practice for an employer (1) to fail or refuse to hire or to discharge any individual, or to discriminate against any individual with respect to his compensation, terms conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such individual's race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. . .

decision. The sex (or pregnancy) need not be an outcome determinative factor, and a plaintiff could prove discrimination merely by showing that an illegal characteristic was one factor among others considered in reaching an employment decision. 490 U.S. at 241-242. That, however, is not the end of the analysis.

Next, the *Price Waterhouse* court surveyed the legislative history of Title VII to conclude that Congress intended to preserve an employer's remaining discretion and freedom of choice; therefore, *Price Waterhouse* held that an employer can avoid liability under Title VII if it can prove that, even had it not taken sex into account, it would have come to the same decision regarding a particular person. "We think these principles require that, once a plaintiff in a Title VII case shows that gender played a motivating part in an employment decision, the defendant may avoid a finding of liability only by proving that it would have made the same decision even if it had not allowed gender to play such a role. This balance of burdens is the direct result of Title VII's balance of rights." 490 U.S. at 244-245. This has become known as the mixed-motive defense to discrimination.

The California Fair Employment and Housing Act ("FEHA") contains nearly identical language to Title VII, including the "because of" qualifier. Cal. Govt. Code § 12940 states:

It shall be an unlawful employment practice, unless based upon a bona fide occupational qualification. . . (a) for an

employer, *because of* the race, religious creed, color, national origin, ancestry, physical disability, mental disability, medical condition, marital status, sex, age, or sexual orientation of any person, to refuse to hire or employ the person . . . or to discriminate against the person in compensation or in terms, conditions, or privileges of employment. (emphasis added)

Notwithstanding Harris's argument that FEHA and Title VII serve different goals, it is well established that Title VII and FEHA are similar statutes, enacted to further similar public policies. The language of these two statutes is identical in prohibiting employment discrimination on the basis of sex or pregnancy.

California courts look to pertinent federal precedent to interpret similar state statutes. *Guz v. Bechtal* (2000) 24 Cal. 4th 317, 355. Thus, the mixed-motive affirmative defense adopted by the U.S. Supreme Court provides precedent for analyzing employment discrimination cases brought under FEHA, Harris's arguments to the contrary notwithstanding.

Two years after *Price Waterhouse*, in 1991, Congress amended Title VII and adopted 42 U.S.C. section 2000e-5(g)(2)(B), limiting the remedies available under the employer's affirmative defense. Thus, Congress ratified the mixed-motive defense articulated in *Price Waterhouse*, but limited it to the extent it provided a complete affirmative defense to discrimination in a mixed-motive case, and limited

relief to extraordinary injunctive relief and attorney's fees. The California legislature has not followed suit by limiting remedies available under FEHA.

The Court of Appeal has gone no farther. Like it, other California courts have recognized the mixed-motive defense to FEHA employment liability. See, e.g., Heard v. Lockheed Missiles & Space Co. (1996) 44 Cal.App.4th 1735, 1748 ("In some cases, the evidence will establish that the employer had "mixed motives" for its employment decision. . .[citing Price Waterhouse] In a mixed motive case, both legitimate and illegitimate factors contribute to the employment decision."); Reeves v. Safeway (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 95, 112 (where the mixed motive analysis is discussed in footnote 11, though not applied); and O'Mary v. Mitsubishi Electronics (1997) 59 Cal.App.4th 563, 584. See also, Arteaga v. Brinks (2008) 163 Cal.App.4th 327, 357, which declined to decide whether a mixed motive defense applied, as the facts did not support that theory; and Sada v. Robert F. Kennedy Medical Center (1997) 56 Cal. App. 4th 138 ("We do not suggest that McDonnell Douglas provides the only method for evaluating the merits of SADA's FEHA claims." Citing to *Heard*, *supra*, and the mixed motive analysis). Finally, see Huffman v. Interstate Brands (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 679, 702 (holding that neither plaintiff nor defendant had offered a mixed-motive jury instruction, in declining to apply that defense).

While obviously it is free to do so, unlike Congress the California legislature has not amended the Fair Employment and Housing Act to incorporate the limitations on the remedies available to an employer who proves a mixed motive affirmative defense. While California courts look to federal decisional law for guidance when interpreting FEHA provisions which are parallel to those in Title VII (*Reno v. Baird* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 640), California courts cannot incorporate federal amendments to Title VII into FEHA if the California legislature has not adopted them.³ Thus, while the 1991 Title VII amendments partially limit the mixed motive affirmative defense as to remedies available to an employer in a Title VII case, there is no such limitation under FEHA. *Price Waterhouse* is still good law in California with respect to the mixed-motives analysis, and arguably provides a complete defense to employer liability. ⁴ Therefore, as recognized by

³ C.f. Munson v. Del Taco, Inc. (2009) 46 Cal.4th 661, importing the federal burden of proof to a California statute (where California Legislature specifically added subdivision (f) to California Civil Code section 51 specifying that a violation of the federal Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) shall also constitute a violation of the Unruh Civil Rights Act, thus, plaintiff seeking damages for ADA violations under Unruh Civil Rights Act is not required to prove intentional discrimination).

⁴ The U.S. Supreme Court recently addressed mixed-motive jury instructions in *Gross v. FBL Financial Services* (June 18, 2009) 129 S.Ct. 2343, declining to extend the mixed-motive analysis to the Age Discrimination in Employment Act ("ADEA"). The court held that to establish age discrimination under the ADEA, a plaintiff must prove that age was the "but for" cause of the employer's adverse decision, i.e., that consideration of the plaintiff's age had a determinative influence on the outcome of the employment decision. 129 S.Ct. at 2350. *Gross* places a heavier burden on plaintiffs under the ADEA than does Title VII.

the Court of Appeal, it was reversible error for the trial court to refuse the City's proffered BAJI jury instruction 12:26. (RT 2755:25–2756:4; 2758:4–2758:19).

It would be manifestly unfair to impose liability on an employer for an adverse employment action if a protected characteristic is but **one** factor among many that the employer might have considered, without giving the employer an opportunity to assert through affirmative defense that the other factors were so important that they outweighed any reliance, presumptive or otherwise, on the protected characteristic. Here the Court of Appeal recognized that the jury should have been directed to consider whether Harris's poor performance on the job, including her accidents and failures to show up for work on time, were a legitimate employer concern that would have led to her termination regardless of her pregnancy and the inference that arose because of when she announced it. To be fair to the City (and to the public at large who relies on dependable transit service), the Court of Appeal held the jury must be accurately instructed on whether the City would have terminated Harris in any event for her failure to meet probationary standards.⁵ That is merely a restatement of the holding of *Price Waterhouse*, the cases following it and frankly of sound policy and common sense.

⁵ A public employer need not meet a "just cause" standard to terminate a probationary employee; it is free to decide that the employee has not performed well enough to merit civil service protections.

The CACI jury instruction 2500 given by the trial court asked the jury whether Harris's pregnancy was a motivating reason for her discharge (RT:3021:3-5); in other words, one reason among several. And that was the end of the analysis. CACI instruction 2500 did not require the jurors to answer the question of whether Harris's pregnancy had a determinative influence on the City's decision to terminate her employment. It did not ask the jury to answer the question of whether, "but for" her pregnancy, Ms. Harris would have lost her job, which is what is required before a violation of FEHA can be found.⁶

In the end Harris had the benefit of a lower, mixed-motive burden of proof (i.e. was there some evidence of any kind of discrimination however weak or strong), without giving the City the opportunity to assert a mixed-motive affirmative defense that even if so, it made no difference. Harris sought and received CACI instruction 2500. (RT:3021:3-5) But that instruction does not adequately set forth the burden of proof that Harris must carry to prove entitlement to damages in a FEHA claim. Harris cannot have it both ways.

⁶ The different theories of discrimination and burdens of proof are discussed in *Washington v. Garrett* (9th Cir. 1994) 10 F.3d 1421, fn 15. A plaintiff can establish discrimination by demonstrating that a protected characteristic was a motivating factor for an employment decision, even though other factors played a role. The burden then shifts to the defendant to demonstrate it would have taken the same action in the absence of the illegitimate motive.

The CACI jury instructions given by the trial court do not accurately state the law in FEHA claims. The Court of Appeal provided a solution to the defects in CACI jury instruction 2500. It vacated and remanded for the jury to consider whether the City would have terminated Harris in any case for two miss-outs and for poor performance.

CONCLUSION

For these reasons, this Court should deny the Petition for Review.